
1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

SHAWN N. ANDERSON

United States Attorney
Districts of Guam and the NMI

MARIVIV P. DAVID

Assistant United States Attorney
Sirena Plaza, Suite 500
108 Hernan Cortez Avenue

Hagatna, Guam 96910
PHONE: (671)472-7332
FAX: (671)472-7215
JOHN A. MICHELICH

Senior Litigation Counsel
MICHAEL P. MCCARTHY

Trial Attorney
U.S. Department of Justice
Criminal Division, Fraud Section
1400 New York Ave N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20530

Attorneys for the United States of America

FILED
DISTRICT COURT OF GUAM

OCT 28 2019 "^

JEANNE G. QUINATA

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE TERRITORY OF GUAM

< jjft

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,

vs.

KIMBERLY C. "CASEY" CONNER,

Defendant.

CRIMINAL CASE NO. 16-CR-00002-002

PLEA AGREEMENT

Plaintiff, United States of America, by and through Shawn N. Anderson, United States

Attorney for the Districts of Guam and the NMI, Marivic P. David, Assistant United States Attorney

for the Districts of Guam and the NMI and Michael P. McCarthy, Trial Attorney, U.S. Department

of Justice, and Defendant Kimberly C. Conner ("Conner"), and Defendant's counsel, agree to the

following Plea Agreement:

1. Guilty Plea and Maximum Statutory Penalties:
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Defendant agrees to plead guilty to Count 1 and Count 12 in the Superseding Indictment,

ECF No. 102, which charge Defendant with Conspiracy to Commit Health Care Fraud in violation

of 18 U.S.C. § 1349 and Conspiracy to Engage in Monetary Transactions with Proceeds of Specified

Unlawful Activity in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1956(h) and 1957. Defendant understands that

Conspiracy to Commit Health Care Fraud is a Class C felony which carries a maximum penalty of:

not more than a 10 year term of imprisonment; a fine not to exceed $250,000; not more than a 3 year

term of supervised release; restitution; and a $100.00 special penalty assessment. Defendant also

understands that Conspiracy to Engage in Monetary Transactions with Proceeds of Specified

Unlawful Activity is a Class C felony which carries a maximum penalty of: not more than a 10 year

term of imprisonment; a fine not to exceed $250,000; not more than a 3 year term of supervised

release; restitution; and a $100.00 special penalty assessment

Defendant understands that a violation of a condition of supervised release carries an

additional penalty ofre-imprisonment for all or part of the term of supervised release without credit

for time previously served on post-release supervision.

2. The Court's Role in Plea and Sentencing Procedure:

The Court is not a party to this Plea Agreement. Sentencing is a matter that is solely within

the discretion of the Court. Defendant understands that the Court is under no obligation to accept

any recommendations made by the United States and/or by Defendant; that the Court will obtain an

independent report and sentencing recommendation from the U.S. Probation Office; and that the

Court may, in its discretion, impose any sentence it deems appropriate up to the statutory maximums

stated in this Plea Agreement.

Defendant acknowledges that no promises of any type have been made to Defendant with

respect to the sentence the Court will impose in this matter. Defendant understands that the Court is
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required to consider the applicable sentencing guideline range, but may depart upward or downward

under the appropriate circumstances.

Defendant also understands that should the sentencing judge decide not to accept any of the

parties' recommendations, that decision is not a basis for withdrawing from this Plea Agreement or a

basis for withdrawing this plea of guilty.

Defendant understands that the Court shall accept Defendant's unconditional guilty plea as

long as it meets the requirements of Fed. R. Crim. P. 11(b). The Court will therefore conduct a

limited inquiry to determine whether Defendant's plea is knowing, voluntary and intelligent, and has

a sufficient factual basis.

3. Waiver of Constitutional Rights:

Defendant understands that by entering this plea of guilty Defendant is knowingly and

voluntarily waiving certain constitutional rights, including:

(a) The right to a jury trial;

(b) The right at trial to confront and cross-examine the adverse witness.

(c) The right to remain silent at trial with such silence not being used against the

Defendant in any way;

(d) The right to testify at trial and present evidence;

(e) The right to compel witnesses to testify; and

(f) The right to plead not guilty and to persist with that plea.

While Defendant is waiving certain constitutional rights, Defendant understands Defendant

retains the right to be represented at trial and at every other stage of the proceedings by an attorney,

who will be appointed at no cost if Defendant cannot afford to hire an attorney. Defendant also

acknowledges that any pretrial motions currently pending before the Court are waived.

Elements of the Offense:
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The United States and Defendant agree that in order to convict Defendant of Conspiracy to

Commit Health Care Fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1349 and Conspiracy to Engage in Monetary

Transactions with Proceeds of Specified Unlawful Activity in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1956(h) and

1957, the United States would have to prove beyond a reasonable doubt the following elements:

Conspiracy to CommitHealth Care Fraud

(a) First, beginning on or about March 11,2010, and ending on or about March

21,2014, there was an agreement between two or more persons to commit the crime of

health care fraud; and

(b) Second, defendant became a member of the conspiracy knowing of its object

and intending to help accomplish it.

Defendant understands and agrees that to establish the offense of health care fraud, in

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1347, the United States would have to prove beyond a reasonable doubt the

following elements:

(a) First, defendant knowingly and willfully participated in or devised a scheme

or plan to defraud a health care benefit program, or a scheme or plan for obtaining money or

property by, or under the custody or control of, any health care benefit program, by means of

false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises;

(b) Second, the statements made or facts omitted as part of the scheme were

material; that is, they had a natural tendency to influence, or were capable of influencing, a

person to part with money or property;

(c) Third, defendant acted with intent to defraud; that is, the intent to deceive or

cheat; and,

(d) Fourth, the scheme involved the delivery of, or payment for, health care

benefits, items, or services.
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Conspiracy to Engage in Monetary Transactions with Proceeds ofSpecified Unlawful Activity

(a) First, beginning on or about March 11,2010, and ending on or about March

21, 2014, there was an agreement between two or more persons to commit the crime of

money laundering;

(b) Second, defendant became a member of the conspiracy knowing of its object

and intending to help accomplish it.

Defendant understands and agrees that to establish the offense of money laundering, in

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1957, the United States would have to prove beyond a reasonable doubt the

following elements:

(a) First, defendant knowingly engaged or attempted to engage in monetary

transactions;

(b) Second, defendant knew the transaction involved criminally derived property;

(c) Third, the property had a value greater than $10,000;

(d) Fourth, the property was, in fact, derived from a health care fraud scheme; and

(e) Fifth, the transaction occurred in a territorial jurisdiction of the United States,

that is, Guam.

4. Factual Basis and Statement of Facts:

The United States and Defendant stipulate and agree that the following facts are accurate;

that the United States could prove these facts beyond a reasonable doubt at trial; and these facts

constitute an adequate factual basis for defendant's guilty plea.

This statement of facts is made for the limited purpose of supporting Defendant's guilty plea.

It therefore does not contain all facts relating to the underlying criminal conduct. This statement of

facts does not preclude either party from presenting and arguing, for sentencing purposes, additional
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facts which are relevant to the guideline computation or sentencing, unless otherwise prohibited in

this agreement.

(a) Kimberly C. Conner was born in 1959, and is a citizen of the United States ofAmerica.

(b) Medicare and Tricare are federal government "health care benefit programs" as defined

by 18 U.S.C. § 24(b). Medicare and Tricare cover non-emergency scheduled ambulance

transportation services that are medically necessary.

(c) In the absence of an emergency condition, ambulance transportation services are

medically necessary only where (1) the patient being transported could not be transported by any

other means without endangering the individual's health; or (2) the patient was before, during, and

after transportation, bed-confined, and other means of transportation were contraindicated. For

purposes ofMedicare and Tricare coverage, "bed-confined" means that the patients was (1) unable

to get up from bed without assistance; (2) unable to ambulate; and (3) unable to sit in a chair

(including a wheelchair).

(d) For non-emergency scheduled ambulance transport, the provider is required to obtain a

Physician Certification Statement ("PCS") from the beneficiary's physician certifying that the

ambulance transportation is medically necessary. The PCS must be obtained before the service is

provided and must be dated no earlier than 60 days from the date of service. Although necessary, the

PCS is not sufficient to qualify for coverage ofnon-emergency scheduled ambulance transportation

of Medicare and Tricare beneficiaries.

(e) Under Medicare and Tricare rules and regulations, a provider is required to make its own,

separate determination of the beneficiary's condition at the time of the transport and document the

beneficiary's condition which renders the ambulance transport medically necessary. For each

transport, the emergency medical technician ("EMT") aboard the ambulance must prepare a run
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sheet documenting the beneficiary's condition in order to support a claim for reimbursement

submitted by the provider to Medicare and Tricare.

(f) Medicare only covers non-emergency scheduled ambulance transports of eligible

beneficiaries to the following covered destinations: (1) hospitals; (2) critical access hospitals; (3)

skilled nursing facilities; (4) a beneficiary's home; or (5) dialysis facilities for end stage renal

disease ("ESDR") patients who require dialysis.

(g) Among other requirements, when a non-emergency scheduled ambulance transportation

services provider submits a claim for reimbursement to Medicare and Tricare, the provider must

certify that the service was medically necessary and that the claim otherwise complies with the rules

and regulations of the health care benefit programs.

(h) Smart Energy Design, Inc. d/b/a Guam Medical Transport ("GMT"), was a company

located in the District of Guam. GMT provided non-emergency scheduled ambulance transportation

services to residents of Guam, including ambulance transportation services to and from dialysis

treatment for people who suffered from ESRD. Transporting ESRD patients to and from dialysis

treatments was the primary source of GMT's revenues.

(i) GMT was an authorized ambulance transportation services provider for Medicare Part B.

Tricare, and other health insurance providers. Most of GMT's claims were paid by Medicare Part B.

(j) Clifford P. Shoemake was the ChiefExecutive Officer, and part owner, of GMT.

Kimberly C. Conner was an executive and part owner of GMT. Nicholas A. Shoemake was an

employee of GMT (together, "Defendants").

(k) From approximately March 11, 2010, through approximately March 21, 2014, there was

a conspiracy among GMT's employees, including Defendants, along with others, to execute a

scheme and artifice to defraud Medicare and Tricare programs by means of false and fraudulent

pretenses and representations, to wit, by submitting claims for providing medically unnecessary
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ambulance transportation services for beneficiaries who did not qualify for those services.

Defendants joined the conspiracy knowing of its purpose and intending to help accomplish it.

(1) As used below, Defendants agree that the terms "knowingly" and "knowledge" mean that

there was a high probability that the fact known was in existence and that Defendants took deliberate

actions to avoid learning of the fact.

(m) As part of the scheme to defraud, Defendants and others knowingly submitted and

caused to be submitted claims to Medicare and Tricare that were materially false, in that the claims

represented that ambulance transports that GMT provided to ESRD patients were medically

necessary, when in fact they were not because, among other things, the beneficiaries could be

transported by other means without endangering their health and/or the beneficiaries were not bed

confined. The purpose ofmaking the materially false claims was to obtain monies from the Medicare

and Tricare programs to which GMT was not otherwise entitled.

(n) Defendants were aware that GMT employees were re-writing trip sheets and removing

references to patients' ability to ambulate on their own. Defendants directed the removal of this

language because they knew that, as a general matter, Medicare and Tricare did not pay for

ambulance transportation for beneficiaries that could walk. Defendants were deliberately ignorant to

the fact that the alterations resulted in trip sheets that contained materially false information about

the physical condition of the patients.

(o) Defendants were aware that many of GMTs patients could in fact ambulate on their own

and were not bed-confined. Further, they knew or were deliberately ignorant to the fact that many of

the ambulatory patients did not have acute medical conditions that otherwise would have qualified

them for ambulance transportation.
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(p) One or more Defendants were aware of concerns raised by GMT employees, including

EMTs, that GMT was transporting Medicare and Tricare beneficiaries that did not qualify for

ambulance services, and was submitting materially false claims for reimbursement.

(q) Defendants knew of or were deliberately indifferent to Medicare and Tricare rules and

regulations in which was set forth the correct definition ofmedical necessity. Defendants' failure to

adequately follow up on and address the GMT employees' concerns, or properly review the rules

and regulations was part of their deliberate failure to learn that GMT provided medically

unnecessary ambulance transports.

(r) From on or about March 11,2010, until on or about March 21,2014, GMT, by and

through Defendants and others, submitted to Medicare and Tricare programs claims for non

emergency ambulance transportation services resulting in payments to GMT of approximately

$10,884,964.49.

(s) From on or about March 11,2010, until on or about March 21, 2014, there was a

conspiracy among Defendants to knowingly engage and attempt to engage, in monetary transactions

by, through or two a financial institution, affecting interstate commerce and foreign commerce, in

criminally derived property, that is, the proceeds of the health care fraud set forth above, of a value

greater than $10,000.

(t). It was part of the conspiracy that Defendants would cause Medicare and Tricare to remit

payment to GMT ofthe proceeds of the submission of false and fraudulent claims for payment, as

set forth above, into a corporate bank account at the First Hawaiian Bank in the name of Smart

Energy Design, Inc. d/b/a/ Guam Medical Transport, but under defendant's control.

(u). It was further part of the conspiracy that Defendants would utilize or cause to be utilized

proceeds of their health care fraud scheme that had been deposited into the corporate bank account to

engage in monetary transactions, including by transferring and converting, or causing the transfer
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and conversion, of the proceeds of their fraudulent scheme from the corporate bank account to their

own personal use in several ways including, but not limited to, payments for the following:

(i) Personal travel, lodging, meals, and other expenses associated with personal

vacations;

(ii) Personal income taxes;

(iii) A down payment and closing costs associated with the purchase of a personal

residence;

(iv) Monthly mortgage installment payments for a personal residence;

(v) Personal utility expenses including water, electricity, and telephone bills for a

personal residence;

(vi) Monthly rental payments on a personal residence;

(vii) Monthly automobile loan installment payments; and

(viii) Credit card bills for numerous miscellaneous personal expenses,

(v). Defendants caused payments to themselves to be falsely categorized as business

expenses of Smart Energy Design, Inc., d/b/a Guam Medical Transport, thereby improperly reducing

the taxable income ofthe corporation and the corporation's corresponding tax liability.

. The parties agree that this stipulated statement of facts is sufficient to support defendant's guilty

plea. It is made for that limited purpose and does not contain all facts relating to the underlying

criminal conduct.

5. Waiver of Inadmissibility of Statements:

Defendant agrees to waive the inadmissibility of statements made in the course ofplea

discussions with the United States,pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. 11(f). This waiver shall apply if

Defendant withdraws this guilty plea or breaches this Plea Agreement. Defendant acknowledges

that any statements made by Defendant to law enforcementagents in the course ofplea discussions
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in this case would be admissible against Defendant in the United States case-in-chief ifDefendant

were to withdraw or breach this Plea Agreement.

6. The United States Agrees:

(a.) Dismissal(s):

At the time of sentencing, the United States agrees to move to dismiss Counts 2-11, and 18-

23 and 26-27, of the Superseding Indictment, ECF No. 102.

(b.) Not to File Additional Charges:

The United States Attorney's Office for the Districts of Guam and the NMI agrees not to

bring any additional charges against Defendant based upon information in its possession at the time

of this Plea Agreement and arising out of Defendant's conduct involving illegal activity charged in

this *Indictment, unless Defendant breaches this Plea Agreement any time before or after

sentencing.

7. United States Sentencing Guideline Calculations:

Defendant understands and acknowledges that the United States Sentencing Guidelines

(hereinafter "U.S.S.G.") are applicable to this case and that the Court will determine Defendant's

applicable sentencing guideline range at the time of sentencing. In determining a sentence, the Court

is obligated to consider that range, possible departures or variances under the Sentencing Guidelines,

and other sentencing factors under 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a).

(a.) Base Offense Level:

The United States and Defendant agree that the base offense level is 6. See U.S.S.G.

§2Bl.l(a)(2).

The United States and Defendant agree and stipulate that the loss to the United States was

$10,884,964.49, was obtained in furtherance of the criminalactivityundertaken by Defendant; this

amount was within the scope of Defendant's agreement; this amount was reasonably foreseeable to
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Defendant in connection with the conspiracy set forth above; and Defendant's relevant conduct for

sentencing purposes should be calculated based upon this amount, pursuant to U.S.S.G. §1B1.3.

(b.) Specific Offense Characteristics:

The United States and Defendant also agree and stipulate that the base offense is increased as

set forth below.

+20 for a loss ofmore $9,500,000 but less $25,000,000. See U.S.S.G. §2Bl.l(b)(l)(K).

+2 for conviction ofa Federal health care offense in a Government health care program. See

U.S.S.G. §2B1.1(b)(7).

+1 for conviction under 18 U.S.C. § 1957 (the object of the conspiracy to which defendant is

pleading guilty). See U.S.S.G. §2S1.1(b)(2)(A).

For the purposes of this plea agreement, the parties agree that no other specific offense

characteristics should be applied,

(c.) Acceptance ofResponsibility:

If Defendantpleads guilty and demonstrates a recognitionand an affirmative acceptance of

personal responsibility for the criminal conduct; provides complete and accurate information during

the sentencing process; does not commit any obstructive conduct; accepts this Plea Agreement; and

enters a plea of guiltyno later than October 28,2019, the UnitedStateswill move for a three (3)

level downwardadjustment in the offense level for Defendant's timely acceptance of responsibility,

pursuant to U.S.S.G. §3El.l(a) and (b).

Defendant and the United Statesagree that the United Statesmay at its option and upon

writtennotice to Defendant,not recommend a three (3) level downwardreduction for acceptance of

responsibility if, prior to the imposition of sentence, Defendant is chargedor convicted of any

criminal offense whatsoever or ifDefendant tests positive for any controlled substance.
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Furthermore, Defendant agrees to pay the $200 mandatory special penalty assessment to the

Clerk of Court for the District of Guam at or before sentencing, and shall provide a receipt from the

Clerk to the United States before sentencing as proof of this payment, as a condition to this

recommendation by the United States.

Therefore, for the purposes of this plea agreement, the United States and Defendant agree

that Defendant's final adjusted offense level should be 26. Defendant acknowledges that the U.S.

Probation Office is not bound by the parties' guidelines calculation set forth in this plea agreement,

and may calculate the sentencing guidelines in a way that results in an adjusted offense level that is

higher (or lower) than 26. Defendant acknowledges that the Court is not bound by the guidelines

calculation set forth in this plea agreement and could elect to use a higher (or lower) adjusted offense

level calculated by the U.S. Probation Office in determining the adjusted offense level for

Defendant,

(d.) Criminal History:

The United States and Defendant understand that Defendant's criminal history computation

is tentative and that ultimately Defendant's criminal history category will be determined by the

Court after review of the Presentence Investigative Report. The United States and Defendant have

made no agreement and make no representationsas to the criminal history category, which shall be

determined after the Presentence Investigative Report is completed.

8. Departures:

There are no aggravating or mitigating factors with respect to the correct calculation of the

Sentencing Guidelines. The United States and Defendant agree that they will not seek either an

upward or a downward departure from the applicable Guidelines.

9. Substantial Assistance:
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The United States also agrees to furnish Defendant an opportunity to provide "substantial

assistance," that is, information and assistance in the investigation and prosecution of others.

Defendant agrees to meet with federal and state law enforcement agents in an attempt to assist them

in obtaining information that would form the basis of a motion for correction or reduction of

sentence to be filed pursuant to U.S.S.G. §5K1.1 and/or 18 U.S.C. § 3553(e). Defendant

understands that whether any such information amounts to substantial assistance is a determination

left to the United States Attorney's Office.

(a.) Defendant must provide information and assistance in the federal or state

investigation and prosecution of others who have the same as or greater involvement than

Defendant's involvement in violations of the law.

(b.) Defendant understands and agrees to participate in full debriefings by federal and

local investigative agencies about Defendant's knowledge of illegal conduct, at times and places to

be decided by these agencies. Defendant agrees to provide complete, accurate, and truthful

information during the debriefings. Such debriefings may involve the use of a polygraph, if

requested by the agencies. It is understood that Defendant may have an attorney present at the

debriefings. Defendant also agrees to participate in any future court proceeding involving any

named or unnamed coconspirators and any other persons involved in criminal activity, by testifying

completely and truthfully. Such court proceedings include grand jury proceedings, trials, and

sentencing hearings.

(c.) Defendant agrees that the United States may, at its option and upon written notice to

Defendant, withdraw from this Plea Agreement or modify its recommendation for sentence if

Defendant fails to provide truthful, complete and honest information during debriefings, testimony

before the grand jury, or any court proceedings, or ifDefendant fails a polygraph examination. The

determination whether Defendant has failed a polygraph examination shall be made by the Court.
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(d.) Defendant understands this agreement does not protect him from prosecution for

perjury, obstruction ofjustice, or any other offense should Defendant commit any crime during

Defendant's cooperation under this agreement.

(e.) Defendant understands further that if the United States determines that Defendant has

provided "substantial assistance" and a motion is made pursuant to U.S.S.G. §5K1.1, the Court will

be free to impose any sentence, even one below the applicable Guidelines sentencing range.

Furthermore, if a motion is also made pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3553(e), the Court will be free to

impose a sentence below any statutory minimum. If a "substantial assistance" motion is filed, both

the United States and Defendant will be free to make a specific recommendation with respect to any

correction or reduction of sentence. It is understood that the United States will inform the

sentencing judge about the timing and extent of Defendant's cooperation.

(f.) Defendant understands that, if the United States files a motion indicating Defendant

has provided "substantial assistance," the appropriate reduction shall be determined by the Court for

reasons including consideration of the following: (1) the Court's evaluation ofthe significance and

usefulness ofDefendant's assistance, taking into consideration the United States' evaluation of the

assistance rendered; (2) the truthfulness, completeness, and reliability of any information or

testimonyprovided by Defendant; (3) the nature and extent of Defendant's assistance; (4) any injury

suffered, or any danger or risk of injury to Defendant or Defendant's family resulting from

Defendant's assistance; and (5) the timeliness of Defendant's assistance. See U.S.S.G. §5K1.1(a)(1)-

(5).

10. Incarceration:

(a.) Length of Imprisonment:

The United States agrees to recommend that the Court impose a sentence of imprisonment

between 63 and 78 months.
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(b.) Bureau ofPrison Recommendations:

The United States Attorney's Office for the Districts of Guam and the NMI acknowledges

that Defendant intends to request the Court to write a letter to the United States Bureau ofPrisons

recommending that Defendant be allowed to serve the sentence at a specific institution. Defendant

understands that any decision concerning Defendant's place of incarceration is within the exclusive

province of the Bureau ofPrisons.

(c.) The United States Attorney's Office agrees to notify the appropriate Bureau of

Prisons officials and request that, in the interests ofDefendant's safety, that Defendant be

incarcerated separate and apart from any of the co-defendants or any other person Defendant has

provided information about.

11. Criminal Fine:

The United States and Defendant are free to make whatever recommendation concerning the

imposition of a criminal fine that they believe is appropriate.

12. Supervised Release:

The United States and Defendant agree to recommend that the Court impose a 3 year term of

supervised release to include the following special conditions, in addition to the standard conditions

of supervised release:

(1) Defendantparticipate and complete such drug testing and drug treatment programs as the

Probation Officer directs; and

(2) Defendant complete mental health evaluations and treatment, including taking

medications prescribed by the treatment provider. Defendant shall allow reciprocal release of

informationbetweenthe Probation Officerand the treatmentprovider. Defendant shall contributeto

the cost of treatment according to Defendant's ability.
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(3) Defendant's person, residence, office, vehicle, and belongings are subject to search at the

direction of the Probation Officer.

(4) Defendant provide financial information, provide copies of Federal income tax returns

and allow credit checks, at the direction of the Probation Officer;

(5) Defendant shall disclose all assets and liabilities to the Probation Officer and shall not

transfer, sell, give away, or otherwise convey or secret any asset, without the advance approval of

the Probation Officer; and

(6) Defendant be prohibited from incurring any new debt, opening new lines ofcredit, or

enter any financial contracts or obligations without the prior approval of the Probation Officer;

(7) Defendant participate and complete financial counseling and life skills programs at the

direction of the Probation Officer.

13. Restitution:

Defendant hereby stipulates and agrees to an order of restitution in the amount of

$$10,884,964.49, jointly and severally with co-defendants.

14. Mandatory Special Penalty Assessment:

Defendant agrees to pay the $200 mandatory special penalty assessment to the Clerk of Court

for the District of Guam, at or before sentencing, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3013 and shall provide a

receipt from the Clerk to the United States before sentencing as proof of this payment.

15. Payments While Incarcerated:

If Defendant lacks the financial resources to pay the monetary obligations imposed by the

Court, Defendant agrees to earn the money to pay toward these obligations by participating in the

Bureau ofPrisons' Inmate Financial Responsibility Program.

16. Forfeiture:

PLEA AGREEMENT - 17

Case 1:16-cr-00002   Document 564   Filed 10/28/19   Page 17 of 23



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

The Defendant agrees to forfeit, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 982(a)(7), all interests in any health

care fraud-related asset, and pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 982(a)(1), all interests in any money

laundering-related asset, that the Defendant currently owns, has previously owned or over which the

Defendant currently, or has in the past, exercised control, directly or indirectly, and any property the

Defendant has transferred, as well as any property that is traceable to, derived from, fungible with, or

a substitute for property that constitutes the proceeds of his offense, including but not limited to the

following specific properties (collectively "properties"):

a. MONEY JUDGMENT

$10,884,964.49, joint and several with co-defendants Clifford P. "Cliff Shoemake and

Nicholas A. "Nick" Shoemake, representing funds involved in the money laundering offenses set out

in Count 12; and

b. REAL PROPERTY

Apartment Number K ofthose certain premises comprising the Tasi 17 Condominium
Project, situated on Lot 5067-1-4, Tumon, Municipality ofTamuning. The Project
having been established as a Horizontal Property Regime by the Declaration and By-
Laws filed in the Department of Land Management, Government of Guam, under and
pursuant to the provisions of the Horizontal Property Act, 21 Guam Code Annotated,
Chapter 45, as amended, as shown on Condominium Map 154 Absolutely and in Fee
Simple.

Defendant agrees to forfeit any rights and interests he may have in the properties, and agrees

to hold the United States, its agents and employees harmless from any claims whatsoever in

connection with the seizure or forfeiture ofproperties covered by this agreement.

The Defendant stipulates and agrees that the conduct described in the Factual Basis contained

herein provides a basis for forfeiture of the above listed properties. Defendant further agrees to

waive all interest he may have in any such properties in any administrative or judicial forfeiture

proceeding, whether criminal or civil, state or federal. The Defendant agrees to consent to the entry

oforders of forfeiture for such properties and waives the requirements ofFederal Rules of Criminal
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Procedure 32.2 and 43(a) regarding notice of the forfeiture in the charging instrument,

announcement of the forfeiture at sentencing, and incorporation of the forfeiture in the judgment.

Pursuant to the provisions of Fed. R. Crim. P. 32.2(b)(l)(l), the United States and the Defendant

agree to request that promptly after accepting this plea agreement, the Court make a determination

that the government has established that the amount of $10,884,964.49 and the remaining listed

properties constitute properties used in a transaction or attempted transaction to commit, or to

facilitate the commission of, a violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1956, and 1957 or are proceeds traceable to

violations of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347,1349,1956 and 1957, and enter an order of forfeiture. Pursuant to

Rule 32.2(b)(4), the Defendant agrees that the preliminary order of forfeiture will satisfy the notice

requirement and will be final as to the Defendant at the time it is entered.

Defendant acknowledges that he understands that the forfeiture of properties is part of the

sentence that will be imposed in this case and waives any failure by the court to advise her of this

pursuant to Rule 1l(b)(l)(J), at the time his guilty plea is accepted.

The Defendant further agrees to waive all constitutional and statutory challenges in any

manner (including direct appeal, habeas corpus, or any other means) to any forfeiture carried out in

accordance with this Plea Agreement on any grounds, including that the forfeiture constitutes an

excess fine or punishment. The Defendant further agrees to take all steps as requested by the United

States to pass clear title to forfeitable properties to the United States, and to testify truthfully in any

judicial forfeiture proceeding. The Defendant acknowledges that all property covered by this

agreement is subject to forfeiture as property involved in the illegal conduct.

The Defendant understands that the United States reserves the right to seek additional

forfeiture, including but not limited to additional sums ofmoney or property used in a transaction or

attempted transaction, to commit, or to facilitate the commission of or are proceeds traceable to a

violation of the offense of conviction, of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1956 and 1957, and constitute or are derived
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from proceeds traceable to violations of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347,1349,1956, and 1957. Defendant

understands that pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. 32.2(b)(2)(C) and Rule 32.2(e)(1), if the court cannot

identify all of the specific properties subject to forfeiture, or calculate the amount of the money

judgment, before sentencing, it may enter an order that describes the properties in general terms.

The Defendant agrees that the United States shall, at its option, be entitled to the forfeiture of

any property (substitute assets) of the Defendant up to the value of the money judgment. The court

shall retain jurisdiction to settle any disputes arising from application of this clause. The Defendant

agrees that forfeiture of substitute assets as authorized herein shall not be deemed an alteration of

Defendant's sentence.

The Defendant agrees to take all steps necessary to identify and locate all substitute assets

and to transfer custody of such assets to the United States before the Defendant's sentencing. The

Defendant agrees to be interviewed by the government, prior to and after sentencing, regarding such

assets. The Defendant further agrees that Fed. R. Crim. P. 11 and U.S.S.G. § 1B1.8 will not protect

from forfeiture assets disclosed by the Defendant as part ofhis cooperation.

The Defendant agrees to take all steps necessary to assist the government in obtaining clear

title to any substitute assets before the Defendant's sentencing. In addition to providing full and

complete information about substitute assets, these steps include, but are not limited to, the surrender

of title, the signing of a consent decree of forfeiture, and signing of any other documents necessary

to effectuate such transfers.

Forfeiture of the Defendant's properties shall not be treated as satisfaction of any fine,

restitution, cost of imprisonment, or any other penalty the Court may impose upon the Defendant in

addition to forfeiture.

17. Financial Disclosure Obligations:
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Defendant agrees to submit to the United States Attorney's Office for the Districts of Guam

and the NMI, within three weeks of the execution of this plea agreement, a complete, accurate and

truthful financial statement and accompanying releases, in a form it provides and as it directs.

Defendant agrees to disclose all assets in which he has any interest or over which he exercises

control, directly or indirectly, including those held by a spouse, nominee or other third party.

Defendant authorizes the United States Attorney's Office for the Districts of Guam and the NMI to

obtain a credit report on her to evaluate her ability to satisfy any financial obligation imposed by the

Court.

Defendant understands and agrees that any monetary penalties imposed by the Court will be

due and payable immediately and subject to immediate enforcement by the United States, pursuant

to 18 U.S.C. § 3613. Defendant understands that, by law, interest accrues on any remaining balance

of the debt. Defendant agrees not to dissipate assets. If Defendant is financially unable to

immediately pay any monetary penalties in full, Defendant agrees: (a) to cooperate with the United

States Attorney's Office; (b) to provide updated financial statements upon request by the United

States Attorney's Office and to keep the office advised about Defendant's current address; and (c)

for her debt to be placed on the Treasury Offset Program and any tax refund/rebate offset program

existing in her state of residency. Defendant understands that any funds captured by an offset

program will be paid towards her monetary penalties, but does not relieve her ofher obligation to

pay the monetary penalties in full.

18. Additional Violations of Law Can Void Plea Agreement:

Defendant and the United States agree that the United States may at its option and upon

written notice to Defendant, withdraw from this Plea Agreement or modify its recommendation for

sentence if, prior to the imposition of sentence, Defendant is charged or convicted of any criminal

offense whatsoever or ifDefendant tests positive for any controlled substance.
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19. Appeal Rights:

Defendant understands that he has a limited right to appeal or challenge the conviction and

sentence imposed by the Court. Defendant hereby expressly waives his right to appeal his

conviction and the sentence the Court imposes, including any restitution order. Defendant further

expressly waives his right to file any post-conviction motion attacking his conviction and sentence,

including a motion pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2255, except one based upon ineffective assistance of

counsel based on information not now known by Defendant and which, in the exercise of due

diligence, could not be known by Defendant by the time the Court imposes the sentence.

20. Integration Clause:

The United States and Defendant acknowledge that this document constitutes the entire Plea

Agreement between the United States and Defendant, and no other promises, agreements, or

conditions exist between the United States and Defendant concerning the resolution of the case.

This Plea Agreement is binding only upon the United States Attorney's Office for the Districts of

Guam and the NMI, and cannot bind other federal, state or local authorities. The United States and

Defendant agree that this agreement cannot be modified except in a writing that is signed by the

United States and Defendant.

Approvals and Signatures

Agreed and submitted on behalf of the United States Attorney's Office for the Districts of

Guam and the NMI.

SHAWN N. ANDERSON

United States Attorney

ARIVIC P. DAVID Date IMARIVIC P. DAVID Date

Assistant U.S. Attorney
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/t,.f.
MICHAEL P. MCCARTHY

Trial Attorney
Datew '

I have read this Plea Agreement and have carefully reviewed and discussed every part of the

agreement with my attorney. I understand and voluntarily enter into this Plea Agreement.

Furthermore, I have consulted with my attorney about my rights, I understand those rights, and I am

satisfied with the representation ofmy attorney in this case. No other promises or inducements have

been made to me, other than those contained in this Plea Agreement and no one has threatened or

forced me in any way to enter into this Plea Agreement. I am agreeing to plead guilty because I am

guilty.

Date

I have read the Plea Agreement and have discussed the contents of the agreement with my

client. The Plea Agreement accurately and completely sets forth the entirety of the agreement

between the parties. I concur in my client's decision to plead guilty as set forth in the Plea

Agreement. There is no legal reason why the Court should not accept Defendant's plea of guilty.

JOHN

Attorney for
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